

Screening Assessment

Acetic acid, anhydride (Acetic anhydride)

Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number 108-24-7

Environment and Climate Change Canada Health Canada

November 2017



Cat. No.: En14-296/2017E-PDF ISBN 978-0-660-23811-1

Information contained in this publication or product may be reproduced, in part or in whole, and by any means, for personal or public non-commercial purposes, without charge or further permission, unless otherwise specified.

You are asked to:

- Exercise due diligence in ensuring the accuracy of the materials reproduced;
- Indicate both the complete title of the materials reproduced, as well as the author organization; and
- Indicate that the reproduction is a copy of an official work that is published by the Government of Canada and that the reproduction has not been produced in affiliation with or with the endorsement of the Government of Canada.

Commercial reproduction and distribution is prohibited except with written permission from the author. For more information, please contact Environment and Climate Change Canada's Inquiry Centre at 1-800-668-6767 (in Canada only) or 819-997-2800 or email to ec.enviroinfo.ec@canada.ca.

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of the Environment and Climate Change, 2016.

Aussi disponible en français

Synopsis

Pursuant to section 74 of the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999 (CEPA), the Minister of the Environment and the Minister of Health have conducted a screening assessment of acetic acid, anhydride, hereinafter referred to as acetic anhydride. The Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number (CAS RN) for acetic anhydride is 108-24-7. This substance is among those substances identified as priorities for assessment as it met categorization criteria under subsection 73(1) of CEPA.

Acetic anhydride does not occur naturally in the environment. In Canada, it is used as an intermediate in the preparation of other chemicals, as a laboratory reagent and as a plasticizer in commercial building or construction materials, including certain silicone sealants. In 2011, there were no reports of manufacture above the reporting threshold of 100 kg for acetic anhydride, but between 10 000 and 100 000 kg of acetic anhydride were imported into Canada.

Acetic anhydride is a permitted food additive that is used to modify starches, which are food ingredients, and as a non-medicinal ingredient in pharmaceuticals.

The ecological risk of acetic anhydride was characterized using the ecological risk classification (ERC) of organic substances. The ERC is a risk-based approach that employs multiple metrics for both hazard and exposure on the basis of weighted consideration of multiple lines of evidence for determining risk classification. Hazard profiles based primarily on metrics regarding mode of toxic action, chemical reactivity, food web—derived internal toxicity thresholds, bioavailability, and chemical and biological activity were established. Metrics considered in the exposure profiles include potential emission rate, overall persistence, and long-range transport potential. A risk matrix is used to assign a low, moderate or high level of potential concern for substances on the basis of their hazard and exposure profiles. The ERC identified acetic anhydride as having a low potential to cause ecological harm.

Considering all available lines of evidence presented in this screening assessment, there is a low risk of harm to organisms and the broader integrity of the environment from acetic anhydride. It is concluded that acetic anhydride does not meet the criteria under paragraph 64(a) or (b) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that have or may have an immediate or long-term harmful effect on the environment or its biological diversity or that constitute or may constitute a danger to the environment on which life depends.

Acetic anhydride is not identified as posing a high hazard to human health on the basis of classifications by other national or international agencies for carcinogenicity, genotoxicity, developmental toxicity or reproductive toxicity. Assessment by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Cooperative Chemicals Assessment Programme did not identify effects of concern for human health.

The general population is not expected to be exposed to acetic anhydride via environmental media due to its rapid hydrolysis. Dietary exposure, if any, to acetic anhydride from consuming modified food starches used as food ingredients is expected to be negligible. Exposure from use of products available to consumers is likewise limited. Overall, exposure of the general population to acetic anhydride is expected to be negligible and the potential risk to human health is considered to be low.

On the basis of the information presented in this screening assessment, it is concluded that acetic anhydride does not meet the criteria under paragraph 64(c) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that constitute or may constitute a danger in Canada to human life or health.

Therefore, it is concluded that acetic anhydride does not meet any of the criteria set out in section 64 of CEPA.

Table of Contents

Synopsis	i
1. Introduction	1
2. Substance Identity	2
3. Physical and Chemical Properties	
4. Sources and Uses	
5. Potential to Cause Ecological Harm	
5.1 Characterization of Ecological Risk	
6. Potential to Cause Harm to Human Health	
6.1 Exposure Assessment	7
6.2 Health Effects Assessment	
6.3 Characterization of Risk to Human Health	8
6.4 Uncertainties in Evaluation of Risk to Human Health	
7. Conclusion	9
References	
List of Tables	
Table 2-1. Substance identity for acetic anhydride	2
Table 3-1. Physical and chemical property values for acetic anhydride (at standard	
temperatures and pressures)	3
Table 4-1. Additional uses in Canada for acetic anhydride	

1. Introduction

Pursuant to section 74 of the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999 (CEPA) (Canada 1999), the Minister of the Environment and the Minister of Health have conducted a screening assessment of acetic anhydride to determine whether this substance presents or may present a risk to the environment or to human health. This substance was identified as a priority for assessment as it met categorization criteria under subsection 73(1) of CEPA (ECCC, HC [modified 2007]).

Acetic anhydride was reviewed internationally through the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Cooperative Chemicals Assessment Programme, and an OECD Screening Information Dataset (SIDS) Initial Assessment Report (SIAR) is available. These assessments undergo rigorous review and endorsement by international governmental authorities. Health Canada and Environment and Climate Change Canada are active participants in this process and consider these assessments reliable. The OECD SIAR is used to inform the health effects characterization in this screening assessment.

The ecological risk of acetic anhydride was characterized using the ecological risk classification of organic substances (ERC) (ECCC 2016a). The ERC describes the hazard of a substance using key metrics including mode of toxic action, chemical reactivity, food web-derived internal toxicity thresholds, bioavailability, and chemical and biological activity and considers the possible exposure of organisms in the aquatic and terrestrial environments on the basis of factors including potential emission rates, overall persistence and long-range transport potential in air. The various lines of evidence are combined to identify substances as warranting further evaluation of their potential to cause harm to the environment or as having a low likelihood of causing harm to the environment.

This screening assessment includes consideration of information on chemical properties, environmental fate, hazards, uses and exposure, including additional information submitted by stakeholders. Relevant data were identified up to January 2016. Empirical data from key studies, as well as some results from models, were used to reach the conclusions. When available and relevant, information from other jurisdictions was considered.

This screening assessment was prepared by staff in the CEPA Risk Assessment Program at Health Canada and Environment and Climate Change Canada and incorporates input from other programs within these departments. The draft of this screening assessment (published July 30, 2016) was subject to a 60-day public comment period. The ERC approach (published July 30, 2016) was peer reviewed, and was also subject to a 60-day public comment period.

While external comments were taken into consideration, the final content and outcome of the screening assessment remain the responsibility of Environment and Climate Change Canada and Health Canada.

This screening assessment focuses on information critical to determining whether a substance meets the criteria as set out in section 64 of CEPA. Scientific information was examined and a conclusion was developed by incorporating a weight-of-evidence approach and precaution. The screening assessment presents the critical information and considerations that form the basis of the conclusion.

2. Substance Identity

The substance acetic acid, anhydride, herein referred to as acetic anhydride, is an organic chemical belonging to a substance class known as anhydrides. The Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number (CAS RN²), *Domestic Substances List* (DSL) name and common name for this substance, as well as additional information regarding substance identity, is presented in Table 2-1.

Table 2-1. Substance identity for acetic anhydride

CAS RN	DSL name (common name)	Chemical structure and molecular formula	Molecular weight (g/mol)
108-24-7	Acetic acid, anhydride (acetic anhydride)	C ₄ H ₆ O ₃	102.09

_

¹ A determination of whether one or more of the criteria of section 64 of CEPA are met is on the basis of an assessment of potential risks to the environment and/or human health associated with exposures in the general environment. For humans, this includes, but is not limited to, exposures from ambient and indoor air, drinking water, foodstuffs, and products available to consumers. A conclusion under CEPA is not relevant to, nor does it preclude, an assessment against the hazard criteria specified in the *Hazardous Products Regulations*, which are part of the regulatory framework for the Workplace Hazardous Materials Information System for products intended for workplace use. Similarly, a conclusion on the basis of the criteria contained in section 64 of CEPA does not preclude actions being taken under other sections of CEPA or other Acts.

² The Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number (CAS RN) is the property of the American Chemical Society, and any use or redistribution, except as required in supporting regulatory requirements and/or for reports to the Government of Canada when the information and the reports are required by law or administrative policy, is not permitted without the prior written permission of the American Chemical Society.

3. Physical and Chemical Properties

A summary of physical and chemical properties of acetic anhydride is presented in Table 3-1. Additional physical and chemical properties are presented in ECCC (2016b).

Table 3-1. Physical and chemical property values for acetic anhydride (at

standard temperatures and pressures)

Property	Value	Type of data	Reference
Melting point (°C)	- 73	experimental	Lind 2012
Boiling point (°C)	140	experimental	Lind 2012
Water solubility (mg/L)	1.2 x 10 ⁵	experimental	EPI Suite c2010-2012
Density (g/mL)	1.082	experimental	Lind 2012
Vapour pressure (Pa)	6.80×10^2 (5.1 mm Hg)	experimental	Lind 2012
Henry's law constant (Pa m³/mol)	3.61	modelled (bond method)	EPI Suite c2010-2012
Henry's law constant (Pa m³/mol)	5.79×10^{-1}	experimental	EPI Suite c2010-2012
log K _{ow} (dimensionless)	-0.58	modelled	EPI Suite c2010-2012
log K _{oc} (dimensionless)	0.00	modelled (MCI method)	EPI Suite c2010-2012
log K _{oc} (dimensionless)	0.15	modelled (Kow method)	EPI Suite c2010-2012

Abbreviations: Kow, octanol-water partition coefficient; Koc, organic carbon-water partition coefficient

4. Sources and Uses

Acetic anhydride does not occur naturally in the environment.

On the basis of information submitted pursuant to section 71 of CEPA, there were no reports of manufacture above the reporting threshold of 100 kg for acetic anhydride in Canada in 2011. Between 10 000 and 100 000 kg of acetic anhydride was imported into Canada during the same calendar year³. (Canada 2012)

³ Values reflect quantities reported in response to surveys. See survey for specific inclusions and exclusions (Schedules 2 and 3).

In the United States, the national production volume for acetic anhydride was between 0.45 and 2.27 billion kg (between 1 and 5 billion pounds) for the year 2011 (CDAT [modified 2014]).

In Canada, acetic anhydride is used as an intermediate in the manufacture of other chemicals and products, as a laboratory reagent, and as a plasticizer in commercial building or construction materials (OECD 2002; Sigma-Aldrich 2015; Canada 2012).

Globally, acetic anhydride is an acetylating and dehydrating agent and is used as an intermediate in the manufacture of cellulose acetates.

Acetic anhydride is a Class A precursor for the purposes of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* and the *Precursor Control Regulations* (Canada 2002; Canada 1996).

Additional uses for acetic anhydride are listed in Table 4-1.

Table 4-1. Additional uses in Canada for acetic anhydride

Use Acetic anhydride				
	Acetic anhydride			
Food additive ^a	Y (starch modifying agent)			
Food packaging materials ^b	Y (manufacture of paper trays and paper			
	with negligible residual levels in the			
	finished product)			
Internal Drug Product Database ^c	N (non-medicinal ingredient, it is not listed			
_	in database)			
Natural Health Products Ingredients	V (non modicinal ingradient)			
Database ^d	Y (non-medicinal ingredient)			
Licensed Natural Health Products				
Database as medicinal or non-medicinal	N			
ingredients				
List of Prohibited and Restricted Cosmetic	N			
Ingredients ^f	N			
Reported to be present in cosmetics, on				
the basis of notifications submitted under	NI.			
the Cosmetic Regulations to Health	N			
Canada ^g				
Formulant in pest control products	Υ			
registered in Canada ^h	•			

Abbreviations: Y, YES; N, NO

^a Health Canada (modified 2013)

^b October 2015 email from the Food Directorate, Health Canada, to the Risk Management Bureau, Health Canada; unreferenced

^c DPD (modified 2015)

d NHPID (modified 2016)

^e LNHPD (modified 2016)

f Health Canada (modified 2015)

⁹ December 2014 email from the Consumer Product Safety Directorate, Health Canada, to the Existing Substances Risk Assessment Bureau, Health Canada; unreferenced

Acetic anhydride is used in manufacturing certain types of modified food starches (deMan 1999; FCC 2016; JECFA 2014). In Canada, modified food starches are used as food ingredients, and Canada regulates the modifying agents (e.g., acetic anhydride) used in their manufacture as food additives. Acetic anhydride is permitted for this use in Canada at a level consistent with good manufacturing practice (GMP), which is the minimum amount needed to manufacture the modified starch. Food-grade specifications have been established for four modified starches manufactured with acetic anhydride, namely starch acetate, acetylated distarch adipate, acetylated distarch phosphate, and acetylated oxidized starch (FCC 2016; JECFA 2014).

5. Potential to Cause Ecological Harm

5.1 Characterization of Ecological Risk

The ecological risk of acetic anhydride was characterized using the ecological risk classification of organic substances (ERC) (ECCC 2016a). The ERC is a risk-based approach that considers multiple metrics for both hazard and exposure on the basis of weighted consideration of multiple lines of evidence for determining risk classification. The various lines of evidence are combined to discriminate between substances of lower or higher potency and lower or higher potential for exposure in various media. This approach reduces the overall uncertainty with risk characterization compared to an approach that relies on a single metric in a single medium (e.g., LC_{50}) for characterization. The following paragraphs in this section summarize the approach, which is described in detail in ECCC (2016a).

Data on physical-chemical properties, fate (chemical half-lives in various media and biota, partition coefficients, fish bioconcentration), acute fish ecotoxicity, and chemical import or manufacture volume in Canada were collected from scientific literature, from available empirical databases (e.g., OECD QSAR Toolbox), and from in responses to surveys under section 71 of CEPA, or they were generated using selected quantitative structure-activity relationship (QSAR) or mass-balance fate and bioaccumulation models. These data were used as inputs to other mass-balance models or to complete the substance hazard and exposure profiles.

Hazard profiles based primarily on metrics regarding mode of toxic action, chemical reactivity, food web-derived internal toxicity thresholds, bioavailability, and chemical and biological activity were established. Exposure profiles were also composed of multiple metrics including potential emission rate, overall persistence, and long-range transport potential. Hazard and exposure profiles were compared to decision criteria in order to classify the hazard and exposure potentials for each organic substance as low,

August 2015 email from the Risk Management Bureau, Health Canada, to the Existing Substances Risk Assessment Bureau, Health Canada; unreferenced

moderate, or high. Additional rules were applied (e.g., classification consistency and margin of exposure) to refine the preliminary classifications of hazard or exposure.

A risk matrix was used to assign a low, moderate or high classification of potential risk for each substance on the basis of its hazard and exposure classifications. ERC classifications of potential risk were verified using a two-step approach. The first step adjusted the risk classification outcomes from moderate or high to low for substances that had a low estimated rate of emission to water after wastewater treatment, thus representing a low potential for exposure. The second step reviewed low risk potential classification outcomes using relatively conservative, local-scale (i.e., in the area immediately surrounding a point-source of discharge) risk scenarios designed to be protective of the environment, to determine whether the classification of potential risk should be increased.

ERC uses a weighted approach to minimize the potential for both over- and underclassification of hazard and exposure and subsequent risk. The balanced approaches for dealing with uncertainties are described in greater detail in ECCC (2016a). The following describes two of the more substantial areas of uncertainty. Error in empirical or modeled acute toxicity values could result in changes in classification of hazard, particularly metrics relying on tissue residue values (i.e., mode of toxic action), many of which are predicted values from QSAR models. However, the impact of this error is mitigated by the fact that overestimation of median lethality will result in a conservative (protective) tissue residue value used for critical body residue (CBR) analysis. Error of underestimation of acute toxicity will be mitigated through the use of other hazard metrics such as structural profiling of mode of action, reactivity and/or estrogen binding affinity. Changes or errors in chemical quantity could result in differences in classification of exposure as the exposure and risk classifications are highly sensitive to emission rate and use quantity. The ERC classifications thus reflect exposure and risk in Canada on the basis of what is believed to be the current use quantity, and may not reflect future trends.

Critical data and considerations used to develop the substance-specific profiles for acetic anhydride and the hazard, exposure and risk classification results are presented in ECCC (2016b).

Owing to low hazard and exposure classifications according to ERC for acetic anhydride, this substance was classified as having a low potential for ecological risk. It is therefore unlikely to result in concerns for organisms or the broader integrity of the environment in Canada.

6. Potential to Cause Harm to Human Health

6.1 Exposure Assessment

Acetic anhydride is mainly used as an intermediate in the manufacture of other chemicals and products, including certain silicone sealants. General population exposure to acetic anhydride in the environment is not expected as it is readily hydrolyzed to acetic acid, which is normally present in the environment. As such, exposure of the general population to acetic anhydride through environmental media is not expected.

In the manufacture of modified food starches, acetic anhydride reacts with the starch in a substitution reaction that replaces hydroxyl groups on the starch with acetyl esters (deMan 1999; JECFA 2014). Recognized food-grade specifications for modified food starches limit the amount of introduced acetyl groups to 2.5% (FCC 2016; JECFA 2014), and Canada restricts the amount of acetic anhydride that is used to the minimum amount that is needed to make the desired modified starch (i.e., a level consistent with good manufacturing practice). For these reasons, as well as the fact that acetic anhydride will be consumed in the substitution reaction and that modified food starch is used as a food ingredient and is not consumed directly, the dietary exposure, if any, to acetic anhydride as a result of this permitted food additive use is likely to be negligible (personal communication, email from Food Directorate, Health Canada, to Existing Substances Risk Assessment Bureau, Health Canada, dated July 6, 2016; unreferenced).

Acetic anhydride is also used in the manufacture of paper trays and paper for food packaging. However, exposure of the general population is not expected due to negligible residual levels in the finished packaging materials (personal communication, email from Food Directorate, Health Canada, to Risk Management Bureau, Health Canada, dated October 9, 2015; unreferenced).

Acetic anhydride is used as a non-medicinal ingredient in three prescription drugs (personal communication, email from Risk Management Bureau, Health Canada, to Existing Substances Risk Assessment Bureau, Health Canada, dated October 13, 2015; unreferenced). Given the low quantities (< 3 kg/year) in reported sales data for Canadian hospitals and pharmacies (IMS 2013) and the rapid hydrolysis of acetic anhydride, exposure from use of prescription drugs is expected to be limited. Although it is listed as a non-medicinal ingredient in the Natural Health Products Ingredients Database, acetic anhydride is not currently found in any licensed natural health products.

According to information in publicly available Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDSs), acetic anhydride may be present in certain silicone sealants in low concentrations (≤ 0.1%) as a residual (MSDS 2015a; MSDS 2015b). Some of these silicone sealants are available to consumers as do-it-yourself products, with suggested applications in

residential kitchens or bathrooms. Due to the low concentration of acetic anhydride and the limited nature of its use, general population exposure to acetic anhydride from products available to consumers is expected to be minimal.

In summary, exposure of the general population to acetic anhydride through environmental media, food and products available to consumers is expected to be negligible.

6.2 Health Effects Assessment

Acetic anhydride has been previously reviewed (OECD 2002), and that review was used to inform the health effects characterization in this assessment. Acetic anhydride was not identified as posing a high hazard to human health on the basis of classifications by other national or international agencies for carcinogenicity, genotoxicity, developmental toxicity or reproductive toxicity. It is also not on the European Chemicals Agency's Candidate List of Substances of Very High Concern for Authorisation (ECHA [modified 2015]).

The critical effects for acetic anhydride are irritancy and corrosivity at the site of contact. In animals and humans, acetic anhydride is known to be highly corrosive to the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts, but generally only at high concentration (OECD 2002). Other health effects were not observed following repeated exposure by the inhalation route, and there are no repeated-dose studies for acetic anhydride following oral or dermal exposure (OECD 2002). The reported health effects of acetic acid (the primary metabolite of acetic anhydride) were also primarily site-of-contact effects (generally at high concentrations) or were secondary to the corrosive nature of the substance (AGDH 2013). OECD (2002) did not identify any concerns for carcinogenicity, genotoxicity, developmental or reproductive toxicity.

6.3 Characterization of Risk to Human Health

Acetic anhydride is an industrial chemical that is used primarily as an intermediate in the manufacture of other chemicals and products. Releases of acetic anhydride to the environment are expected to be minimal due to hydrolysis to acetic acid; consequently, no exposure to acetic anhydride is expected for the general population via environmental media. Dietary exposure, if any, to acetic anhydride from consuming modified food starches used as food ingredients is expected to be negligible. Exposure is also not expected from acetic anhydride in food packaging due to negligible residual levels in the packaging material. It is not expected to be a significant source of exposure to the general population as a non-medicinal ingredient in prescription drugs or as a residual in certain silicone sealants. Overall exposure of the general population to acetic anhydride is expected to be negligible, and the potential risk to human health is considered to be low.

6.4 Uncertainties in Evaluation of Risk to Human Health

Although there are some uncertainties in the health effects database (e.g., no repeated exposure studies by the oral and dermal routes) and some limitations in the exposure databases (e.g., no environmental monitoring), given that the sources, uses, and properties of acetic anhydride are well characterized, a qualitative approach to risk characterization is considered appropriate for this assessment.

7. Conclusion

Considering all available lines of evidence presented in this screening assessment, there is low risk of harm to organisms and the broader integrity of the environment from acetic anhydride. It is concluded that acetic anhydride does not meet the criteria under paragraphs 64(a) or (b) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that have or may have an immediate or long-term harmful effect on the environment or its biological diversity or that constitute or may constitute a danger to the environment on which life depends.

On the basis of the information presented in this screening assessment, it is concluded that acetic anhydride does not meet the criteria under paragraph 64(c) of CEPA as it is not entering the environment in a quantity or concentration or under conditions that constitute or may constitute a danger in Canada to human life or health.

Therefore, it is concluded that acetic anhydride does not meet any of the criteria set out in section 64 of CEPA.

References

[AGDH] Australian Government Department of Health. 2013. Sydney (AU): Department of Health, National Industrial Chemicals Notification and Assessment Scheme (NICNAS). Inventory Multi-Tiered and Prioritisation (IMAP) Human Health Tier II Assessment for Acetic Acid, CAS Number: 64-19-7. [accessed 2015 Dec 3]. http://www.nicnas.gov.au/chemical-information/imap-assessments/imap-assessment-details?assessment_id=763.

Canada. 1996. *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act.* S.C., 1996, c. 19. http://lawslois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/C-38.8/.

Canada. 1999. Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999. S.C. 1999, c. 33. Canada Gazette Part III, vol. 22, no. 3. http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/C-15.31/.

Canada. 2002. Controlled Drugs and Substances Act: Precursor Control Regulations P.C. 2002-1615, 24 September, 2002, SOR/2002-359. http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/regulations/SOR-2002-359/.

Canada, Dept. of the Environment. 2012. Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999: Notice with respect to certain substances on the Domestic Substances List. Canada Gazette, Part I, vol. 146, no. 48, Supplement. http://www.gazette.gc.ca/rp-pr/p1/2012/2012-12-01/pdf/g1-14648.pdf.

[CDAT] Chemical Data Access Tool. [modified 2014 Jun]. Non-confidential 2012 Chemical Data Reporting Information: search results for CAS RN 108-24-7. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency. [accessed 2015 Sep 3]. http://java.epa.gov/oppt_chemical_search/.

deMan JM. 1999. Principles of Food Chemistry, 3rd ed. Aspen Publishers, Inc, Gaithersburg, Maryland.

[DPD] Drug Product Database [database]. [modified 2015 Jul 17]. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada. [accessed 2015 Oct 13]. https://health-products.canada.ca/dpd-bdpp/index-eng.jsp.

[ECCC] Environment and Climate Change Canada. 2016a. Ecological Science Approach: Ecological Risk Classification of Organic Substances. https://www.ec.gc.ca/ese-ees/default.asp?lang=En&n=A96E2E98-1

[ECCC] Environment and Climate Change Canada. 2016b. Data used to create substance-specific hazard and exposure profiles and assign risk classifications in the Ecological Risk Classification of Organic Substances. Gatineau (QC): Available from: eccc.substances.eccc@canada.ca.

[ECHA] European Chemicals Agency. [modified 2015 Jun 15]. Candidate List of Substances of Very High Concern for Authorisation [Internet]. Helsinki (FI): European Chemicals Agency. [accessed 2015 Oct 1]. http://echa.europa.eu/web/guest/candidate-list-table.

[ECCC, HC] Environment Canada, Health Canada. [modified 2007 Apr 20]. Categorization. Ottawa (ON): Government of Canada. [accessed 2015 Sep 25]. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/chemical-substances/canada-approach-chemicals/categorization-chemical-substances.html.

[EPI Suite] Estimation Program Interface Suite for Microsoft Windows [estimation model]. c2000-2012. Ver. 4.11. Washington (DC): US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics; Syracuse (NY): Syracuse Research Corporation. http://www.epa.gov/tsca-screening-tools/episuitetm-estimation-program-interface.

[FCC] Food Chemicals Codex. 10th ed. [Internet]. 2015. Food Starch, Modified. United States Pharmacopeial Convention. [accessed 2015 Sep 4]. http://online.foodchemicalscodex.org/online/login. [restricted access].

Health Canada. [modified 2013 Jun 27]. List of Permitted Food Additives. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada. [accessed 2015 Nov 18]. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/food-nutrition/food-safety/food-additives/lists-permitted.html.

Health Canada. [modified 2015 Dec 14]. Cosmetic ingredient hotlist: list of ingredients that are prohibited for use in cosmetic products. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada, Consumer Product Safety Directorate. [accessed 2016 Jan 5]. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/consumer-product-safety/cosmetics/cosmetic-ingredient-hotlist-prohibited-restricted-ingredients/hotlist.html.

Held H, Rengstl A, Mayer D. 2000. Acetic Anhydride and Mixed Fatty Acid Anhydrides. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. Online version. New York (NY): John Wiley and Sons, Inc. [accessed 2015 Aug 20]. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14356007.a01_065/pdf. [restricted access].

[IMS] Intercontinental Marketing Services. 2013. Health Canada Sales Database 2011 & 2012 [MIDAS database on CD]. IMS Brogan, Toronto (ON), IMS Brogan.

[JECFA] Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. 2014. Compendium of Food Additive Specifications. FAO JECFA Monographs 16. Prepared by the 79th meeting of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives.

http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/user_upload/jecfa_additives/docs/monograph16/additive-287-m16.pdf.

Lide DR, editor. 2012. CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics. 93rd ed. Boca Raton (FL): CRC Press. http://www.hbcpnetbase.com/.

[LNHPD] Licensed Natural Health Products Database [database]. [modified 2016 Jun 21]. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada. [accessed 2016 Jul 4]. http://webprod5.hc-sc.gc.ca/lnhpd-bdpsnh/index-eng.jsp.

[MSDS] Material Safety Data Sheet. 2015a. Dow Corning(R) 786 Silicone Sealant M – Clear. Midland (MI): Dow Corning Corporation [accessed 2016 Jan 5]. http://www.dowcorning.com/DataFiles/0902770182415d82.pdf.

[MSDS] Material Safety Data Sheet. 2015b. Dow Corning(R) TB/TL/CER Sealant White. Midland (MI): Dow Corning Corporation. [accessed 2016 Jan 5]. http://www.dowcorning.com/DataFiles/09027701826dc5a7.pdf.

[NHPID] Natural Health Products Ingredients Database [database]. [modified 2016 Apr 18]. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada. [accessed 2016 Jul 4]. http://webprod.hc-sc.gc.ca/nhpid-bdipsn/search-rechercheReq.do.

[OECD] Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2002. SIDS initial assessment report: acetic anhydride: CAS No. 108-24-7. SIAM [SIDS Initial Assessment Meeting] 7; 1997 June; Paris, France. [accessed 2015 Aug 7]. http://webnet.oecd.org/hpv/ui/handler.axd?id=a9cba2dc-3c1c-416f-b8ad-bc04f8447f54.

O'Neil MJ, editor. 2013. The Merck Index. An encyclopedia of chemicals, drugs, and biologicals. 15th ed. Cambridge (UK): Royal Society of Chemistry. https://www.rsc.org/Merck-Index/.

Wagner Jr FS. 2002. Acetic anhydride. Kirk-Othmer Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology. Online version. New York (NY): John Wiley and Sons, Inc. [accessed 2015 Aug 20]. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/0471238961.0103052023010714.a03.pub2/pdf. [restricted access].